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Civil unrest and chaos
erupted in Sarawak
due fto seizing of
mineral 1BSOUICES.

Discovery of gold and antimony

James Brooke was given the
mines in upper reaches of Sarawak
River.

authority to rule Kuching and
became the first Rajah. Waves

Chingse were already in Kuching. of Chinese migrants started to

Tua Pek Kong temple already arrive.
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1884

The Great Fire damaged hundreds of

¢ shophouses.
1912 The Chinese Court House was built at Main Shophouses at Ewe Hai Street were constructed

Bazaar and Ong Tiang Swee was appointed as aREEMEERNNR, B

the Chief Magistrate, in charge of the hearing WEHMNEREM. SRR,
of civil cases of Chinese community.
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FEEK, ARVREHHREIRL.
1928 1930
THE ERA OF THIRD WHITE RAJAH
CHARLES VYNER BROOKE
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2 Chinese Court House which was

closed in 1921 was used as the
office for the Kuching Chinese

Kuching River was backfilled and
renamed as Temple Street.
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Launching of Kuching Old Bazaar
Cutural Mapping & Tourism
Promotion Programme.

o B 3 R R R i
#rRIEL B,

The stretch of shophouses
at 0Od Rock Road
demolished to pave way for
Plaza Merdeka.
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The first Kuching Inter-cultural 55
Mooncake Festival was organised
and held annually until today.
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1848 1857

James Brooke allocated a

Bau Miners Uprising affected

1860

Kuching Chinese Bazaar

piece of land to the Kuching Bazaar's business (today’s Old Bazaar) 1 ssa

Anglican  Diocese and activities. was formed.

Bishop McDougall started aEEABRRRE,

the missionary work. BRATHWNETEYSE NEAZEERN.
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1880’s 1874 1870

The wet markst was relocated to the
New Gambier Street and it is called the
“New Bazaar” by the local

The area of Main Bazaar, Carpenter
streets is known as the “Old Bazaar®
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A The Rajah government held the Centenary of
71 Brooke rule in Sarawak in grandeur.

Sarawak was invaded and was under the
Japanese Occupation for 3 years and 8 months.
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Kuching 0id Market Community
Association established.
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Governmant Building
(0ld Court House) operated officlally.
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With the launch and publication of Sarawak
Gazefte, Sarawak started to have proper and

systematic official records.
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BRITISH CROWN
COLONY PERIOD
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The third Rajah, Charles Vyner Brooke handed
over Sarawak to British government as a
colony.
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1993

Major renovation 1uok place at the rI\l'E[SIdE of Samwak
River and the wharf for the development of Kuching
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POST-INDEPENDENCE
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Sarawak joined the formation of Malaysia.
The first half of Rock Road was renamed
as Jalan Tun Abang Haji Openg.
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1970’s

Construction of shophouses
at Green Hill was completed.
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HISTORICAL
STORY




THE GOLDEN ERA OF

KUCHING OLD BAZAAR
T hwies £F4 L

Determining exactly when Kuching started to be inhabited and when it became a place is a
daunting task. There are, however, existing data and records that can be used to examine the
situation in Kuching 200 years ago.

HETARBEFGREARE, RRCERMEER. AWM, HROTLUED LR
AP, HER200EFRIMIER.

Phato: Sketch of Kuching Old Bazaar in 1839
B: FEECHI8WF AT ER
(source: Kuching in pictures, 1840s-1960s by Ho Ah Chon)

RECORDS ABOUT OLD BAZAAR
AXEEMMICR

According to Elizabeth Pollard in her book Kuching Past
and Preseni (1972), some ancient Belian wood
tombstones found in 1830 in the area behind the Astana
provide evidence of the presence of Brunei nobles around
the 1820s.

The Kuching Kwong Wai Siew Association’s record
mentions a Cantonese pioneer Lau Chek and his
compatriots arriving in Kuching around the 1820s and
engaging in farming and small businesses for quite some
time. Lau Chek was also officially recognised by the
colonial government as the first Chinese to have arrived in
Sarawak. He used to trade at the Old Bazaar and was one
of the founders of Kwong Wai Siew Association.

When the British explorer James Brooke and his crew
arrived in 1839, they noted that in addition to the Malay
villages, there were also some 20 Chinese residing in
Kuching. They also noted the existence of an old temple on
the riverbank, although there was no explicit evidence
regarding which old temple this was. Historians generally
believe this may have been a reference to the Tua Pek Kong
temple and if so, this may be the earliest written record for
the Tua Pek Kong temple. However, the actual year the
temple was constructed remains an unsolved mystery.

When the Anglican bishop, Reverend F. McDougall arrived
in Kuching in 1848, his wife Harriette McDougall described
the situation of Kuching in detail. Her impression of
Kuching at that time gives an indication of its size. She
reported, The town of Kuching consisted in those days of a
Chinese bazaar and a Kling bazaar, both very smafl...

FPhoto: Sketch of Old Temple by the River in Year 1839
B re3ef T Fherin g g
(Sketched by Kho Ah Thong)
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CHINESE ARRIVAL IN KUCHING
EARBEF

By the time Madam Harriette arrived in Kuching, Sarawak
was already under the rule of James Brooke and this also
coincided with increased emigration of Chinese to
Nanyang (or the South Sea). The Chinese migrants sailed
from China to Singapore and upon learning about the newly
established White Rajah kingdom, they crossed the South
China Sea seeking new opportunities in Sarawak.

The Chinese bazaar mentioned by Mdm Harriette was
undoubtedly the Old' Bazaar, while the Kling bazaar was a
combination of Gambier Street and India Street, which later
became known as the New Bazaar.

During that time, two major Chinese settlements had
formed in Sarawak. The downstream was the Kuching
Chinese bazaar while the upsiream was the Bau bazaar
controlled by Hakka miners. In the beginning, there was
peace and harmony between the Brooke government and
the upstream Chinese, but the situation deteriorated in the
1850s. The culmination of the dissent ended with the
eruption of the famous Bau Chinese Revolt, which ended
with thousands losing their lives.
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UPSTREAM AND DOWNSTREAM CHINESE INFLUENCE
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A good gquestion is whether the two groups of Chinese, in
Kuching and Bau had any historical contacts. With the
limited historical records available, the relationship
between upstream and downstream Chinese cannot be
ascertained in much detail. However, since the Rajah
maintained good relationships with Chinese traders in
Kuching, it is believed the Rajah also initially forged similar
relationships with Bau Chinese and this kept the
relationship of the two groups of Chinese in good stead.

In relation to this there are two relatively important records
unrelated to trading which are worth mentioning. These
records are important as they indicate that there was some
sort of relation and communication between the two
groups.

In 1856, when the Kuching Tua Pek Kong temple was
renovated, a contingent of Bau miners came by boat to
Kuching and prayed at the temple to express their wishes
for good fortune. Another record tells of a woman by the
name of Ah Si Mei who suffered beatings from her husband
and who subsequently fell in love with a young miner. The
woman and her new lover left Bau and eloped to Kuching
where they apparently setled.

Whatever the prior communications were, after the Bau
Uprising, it appears there was a clear distinction made
between the Kuching Chinese and the Bau Chinese. When
the Rajah’s forces massacred the Bau miners, the Kuching
Chinese were not affected. Following this incident, the
Rajah’'s government became more cautious when dealing
with the Chinese, but still relied on them for their trading
skills and diligent work attitude. Indeed, the reliance on
Chinese traders and labour led to a mass migration of
Chinese to Sarawak especially during the second Rajah’s
reign. This trade and labour was a driving force for the
economic development of Sarawak.

Recognizing the contributions of the Chinese on more than
one occasion, the second Rajah, Charles Brooke in 1883
publicly pointed out that, Without the Chinamen we can do
nothing.
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Photo: Goldmire at Bau
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Phaoto: Kuching Old Bezaar in 1864
[CEREEE SR A
(Sasrce: Kuching in pictures, 18405-19685 by Ho Ak Chon)

OLD BAZAAR VS NEW BAZAAR
EEHvsHEH

The name of the Bazaar comes from the Malay term Pasar for market or bazaar. Ever-adaptable, the
Chinese migrants adopted the usage of Pasar (B4 ba sha) into daily language. The century old
Kuching Old Street area was divided into the Old Bazaar and the New Bazaar with the two divided by
the Old Court House.

The original bazaar started with the Main Bazaar located along the river and then spread with the Phata
formation of other strests and alleys in the 1860s. In the 1880s, under the second Rajah, Bl e

(Source: Kuching in pictures, 184051960 by Ho Ak Chon)

development began on the other side of the Old Court House where Indian Muslims and Javanese
settlements were originally located. This is when the names of Gambier Street, India Street started to
appear. The wet market was also moved to the riverbank of Gambier Street.

People started to call the area around India and Gambier Streets the New Bazaar with the area along
Main Bazaar remaining as the O/d Bazaar.
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STREETS AND PLACES

WITH ITS INTERESTING OLD STORIES
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Photo : Kuching Old Bazaar in 1564
B 1864 4 28]
(Source: Sarawak Museum)
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Map of Kuching (1876)

Kuching Old Map Year 1870
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One has only to look at the names of the streets to
get a hint about the history and industry of the old
part of town. Naturally, the longer the street has been
in existence, the richer the stories associated with
that street. The century-old streets and alleys in the
0ld Bazaar developed in an ad hoc manner before the
existence of proper town planning. Likewise, in the
earlier years, the sireets did not have uniform names.
The street names often reflected a point of reference
among the local folks and the official names that
appeared later are all important records worthy of
note.

This section attempts to combine information
gathered from the collective memary and oral history
of early Kuching Old Bazaar dwellers and also from
official records. Deciphering these stories and
records was not an easy task given that there are
more than 20 names for the 10 streets in Kuching
0ld Bazaar!
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Kuching Old Map Year 1917




MAIN BAZAAR
R

Kuching Old Bazaar was a very typical business district
where the Chinese traders, Malay, Dayak and European
customers frequented. In the early years, before the
development of other outlying areas, the Old Bazaar was
the main trading center. This was also how the name Main
Bazaar was derived. People came to this street to trade and
sell. All the local barter trades as well as the import and
export activities with Singapore and beyond were
dependent on its wharf,

Since the earlier years Main Bazaar was equivalent to the
Old Bazaar, shop owners often used Old Bazaar as their
corresponding address. However, following the various
Chinese dialects, the streets also had a few other names
depending on the dialect group. The earlier Hokkien settlers
called the area Gang Gi (#51#) meaning “by the river”. The
Teochew used the term Soon Hong Street (Mi=E#)
because there used to be a Soon Hong Kongsi (Ifi=E22 5])
belonging to the Teochew. In the first half of 20th century,
some people even used the term Hai Qian Street (78§1545),
thought to be an influence from Singapore or Malaya.
Around the 1960s, the name Hai Chun Streel (FE/E#)
became a rather fixed name for Main Bazaar. The word Hai
Chun is believed to have originated from the Hakka
meaning of “by the river”.

Photo : Main Bazaar
18 R
(Sowrce: Chai Y T5)
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(Phots Source: Chai Y 5 $)

Photo - Carpenter Sirvet
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(Source: Mike Fong)
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CARPENTER STREET
WE#

The early name of this street was Atfap Street (YE &),
generally believed to have been derived from the common
use of Attap roofing (palm thatch) by most of the shops
there. However, among the locals other names also existed
such as Bak Kow Street (A$047) or Bak Street (A4).
These names were related to the Teochew Bak Kow Kongsi
(#3042 7]). Bak Kow or Bak are pronunciations in the
Teochew dialect for wood. Thus, Bak Kow Street echoes
the English translation of Carpenter Street when this back
lane alley was the domain of carpentry.

‘TEHRTESENHE, —BREERETEENE
BLUTEEMHAET; BERE, T¥S5HENT
BMARINE, HATLARRAAY, RIBMAEXES
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Street, XFEHREERAEZEMMTS.

Photo : Carpenter Street in 1900
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(Saurce: Sarawak Museum)

Photo : Ewe Hai Sireet

EWE HAI STREET Bk A

(Sowrce: Chai Ve 1)
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The shophouses along this street were built by Ong Ewe Hai
(E2%i%) in 1886. He was one of Sarawak's Hokkien
pioneers and also the first president of the Hockien Kongsi
(#8345]). He was also appointed the first Chinese
Kapitan (community leader) of Sarawak. Ong Ewe Hai
came to Sarawak from Singapore in 1864 and in the
beginning, he was just a boat trader (k%) of goods. As
time progressed he ventured into local products trade and
also import and export trade. In 1884, he managed to
obtain the licence for the government's Farm Tax System
and from there acquired a lot of wealth. The descendants of
Ong family include Ong Tiang Swee E 7k, Ong Kwan Hin
EME, Ong Kee Hui EHFE and Ong Tiang Swee's
son-in-law, Wee Kheng Chiang ®EES who were all
influential leaders in politics and trades.
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Photo : China Street

CHINA STREET e, Chot W .3
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Among the streets of Kuching Old Bazaar, China Street is
also referred to as Central Street (h#7). The reason for
this is not truly known and "Central Street” most likely
referred fo the center position it occupies at the Old Bazaar.
As for the name China Street ((REH7) this is often linked
to the Cantonese pioneer, Lau Chek (X|EL). Lau Chek is
officially recognised by the government as the first Chinese
settler to have arrived in Sarawak. He and his compatriots
were already actively conducting trading and farming
activities in the Satok area in the 1820s. According to a
photocopy of the land lease Issued by the Brooke
government to Lau Chek in 1866, Lau Chek operated the Ju
Long Zhi Ji (FRMEEIC)shop at present China Street.
Given that the whole Old Bazaar area was predominantly
Chinese, the appearance of the name “China Street” and
how the name was derived, requires further study.
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{Photo Source: Kuching Teochew Association)

BISHOPSGATE STREET - Pk

ot : Bishopgare Stveet

(Source: Chai Yu B4)
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This small cross street forming the junction of Carpenter
Street and Ewe Hai Street is also known as Lifile Side
Street (HEHEF) or Side Sireel (Hi#7). The street goes
from the Main Bazaar to a small gate that once led to the
garden of the St. Thomas's Diocese of Kuching. The
Bishop and church mission used this gate and street to
come to town for meetings and to do their shopping at the
bazaar. The gate was naturally called Bishop's Gate and
the street took its name from this. In 1993, the government
built a road behind the Bishop's gate severing the
connection. The gate now serves as an alternative access
to Carpenter Street and the Main Bazaar and the once
prominent gate is now reduced to its Belian door frame.
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Photo : Bishap s Gate
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Photo : Wayang Street

WAYANG STREET n: R
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fSource- Chat ¥ 5.4)

Wayang Street, also known as Hua Xiang Street (1 &),
used to be an area dominated by the Hokkien. The
Hokkien's famous Hong San Si Temple (RLLIFF) is located
on the street and every year during the temple deity’s
birthday celebration, a stage was set up opposite the
temple. Growds, including nearby Malay villagers, flocked
enthusiastically to watch the vibrant Hokkien opera. The
name wayang could have been acquired from the Malay
audience as it is a Malay word. As for the use of Hua Xiang,
there are two interpretations. The first interpretation is there
was a flowering tree that exudes a fragrance on the street.
Another interpretation alluded to the presence of heavily
perfumed and make-up women who frequented the area.

According to the inscription on one of the plagues’ in the
Hong San Si Temple, the street was also called Hock Soon
Street (#BIFET). A name believed to be from among the
Hokkien. There was also a rather unfortunate unofficial
name given to the street. In the early days due to the
abundance of cow dung on the street, it was also called
Cow Dung Street (4 FR#).
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Phata : Temple Street

TEMPLE STREET i

(Source: Chai Y )
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The original Kuching river (Sungai Kuching & 3) used
to flow from what is now the Reservoir Park, through the
Tua Pek Kong Temple and the old Chinese Chamber of
Commerce and into Sarawak River. The creation of the
reservoir had subsequently reduced the flow of the river
and in 1928 the river was backfilled to allow development
with the former river becoming a new street. The street
was named Temple Street because the start of the street is
where the iconic Tua Pek Kong Temple is located. The
temple is one of Sarawak’s oldest temples and is believed
to have existed since the early 1800s. Written evidence can
be found on the temple’s pillars dating back to 1856.

HEEH “Fig" , EnET—R2FagEKaoE
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Photo : Temple Street in 1980s, the Rex Cinema not yet demolish.
M 1980% M ab by, WAL A kAR,
(Souree: Kuching in Pictures 1841-1991 by Ho 4h Chan)




JALAN TUN ABANG HAJI OPENG
B png S RARR

This section of road used to be called Rock Road
(KA as it led past a large rock named Batu
Kinyang (& #82592) located one and half miles away.
The rock, which juts out of the ground, was believed to
be sacred. This stretch of road was the main route
used towards the outskirts of Kuching and was also
the longest road at that time. When Sarawak joined in
the formation of Malaysia in 1963, the first half of Rock
Road was renamed after Sarawak’s first Governor, Tun
Abang Haji Openg.
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Photo : Jalan Tun Abang Haji Openg
LR LR L
(Source: Chai tie B #)

Photo : Jalan Tiun Abang Haft Openg in 1925
W95 F d FPTHIS 5 L Ry
(Source: Kuehing in pietures, 18405-19605 by Ho Ak Chon)

Photes - Upper China Street
LRSS
(Source: Chai Yu B 1)

UPPER CHINA STREET
X8

Upper China Street is a continuation of China Street. Until
1993, this was a dead-end street with a hill slope at the
end. Before the 1930s, there used to be a well on the street
and for this reason, the street is also called Da Jin Xiang
(A F45) meaning Big Well Street.

AHERFEHFEETENET, HER—%E%
E, BBHE—T LK. IRBFEE1930FK
Hl, ®&H—OKF, PxERHRERTIE.

Photo : Green Hill (Source: Chai Yu)
Bl
(Source: Chai Yo B9

GREEN HILL
FWiE

This street is considered as the greenest or youngest
among all streets in Old Bazaar. A relatively recent
development, the shophouses were built in the
1970s.
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OTHER WELL KNOWN LOCAL PLACES
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SAKAKBO
=

Four streets namely Wayang Street, Temple street, Tabuan
Road and McDougall Road meet at a traffic intersection in
the shape of a triangle. Thus rendering locals to name the
place as Sa Kak Bo (Triangle Ground). It was a place for the
local to spend leisure time and a playground for children.
For a while, a roundabout was designed at the ground and
inside the roundabout there was a playground.
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QI ZANG SENG
A

From the 1900 geographical perspective, Padang Merdeka
was then the backwaler area where not many would
frequent. It was not too far away from the Chinese
cemetery. Around 1870s, the second Rajah developed the
area for the purpose of building Kuching Recreational
Ground. This place became Kuching's first public garden.
There were seven old ficus trees in the ground where the
local Chinese called the place as (i Zang Seng. Hokkien
and Teochew dialects pronounce the 4&" (ficus) and '#2'
(Pine) as Seng which gave the place a fransliterated name,
Qi Zang Seng or Seven Pines. Some shops located
opposite the Post Office on Old Rock Road used to write
their address as shop number xx, Qi Zang Seng and the
postal office recognised the rightful address. Padang
Merdeka were also called as Council Square and Central
Padang (Central Square) in the past.
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AD BOI GANG
RR#E

The street refers to an unnamed small tributary of Kuching
River located behind the shophouses of Main Bazaar. In the
early years there were small cargo boats plying along this
tributary to allow shop owners to load and unload goods
through the back doors. The meaning of Ao Boi Gang
means River Behind. The river and Kuhing River were
backfilled to give way to development. Now it is just an
unnamed lane between two main streets,
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PEK KONG NIA
a2

The Tua Pek Kong temple is located on the slope of Bukit
Mata Kuching, overlooking the Sarawak River and facing
Gunung Serapi in the west. In the earlier years, there was a
small trail by the side of the temple slope known as Pek
Kong Nia (Pek Kong Hill). Under the second Rajah, the hill
was opened up for development to connect to Padungan
Road. When the development of the hill was announced, a
commotion erupted among the local Chinese because they
fear the Rajah had intentionally aim to destroy the feng shui
of the temple, which could ruin the luck and prosperity of
the Kuching Chinese community.,
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EPILOGUE
Rid

The publishing of Kuching Old Bazaar: Its History and
Changes is the most important tasks in Kuching Old Bazaar
Cultural Mapping & Tourism Promotion Programme

As one of the earliest settlements in Sarawak, Kuching Old
Bazaar has witnessed many important historical moments
over the course of 200 years. The Old Bazaar community
also kept with them many precious collective memories.
From the collection of these memories, we can trace the
footprints of the development of Kuching from the past and
its transformation until present day.

This book, presented in both Chinese and English, focuses
on the historical anecdotes of the Old Bazaar and the
memories of the community. References were made using
existing documents including the Sarawak Gazette, English
and Chinese academic papers, monographs, and
publications of the Chinese associations efc. Supporting
these documents, interviews were conducted with more
than 10 Old Bazaar residents between the ages of 45 to 95
years. At the same time, the assistance from Dr Elena Chai
and her students from Universiti Malaysia Sarawak were
solicited to conduct interview surveys of 75 shops in Old
Bazaar.

This book contains eight chapters of historical anecdotes,
11 chapters related to changing lifestyles and a concluding
chapter. The timeline of Old Bazaar is presented to facilitate
the understanding of the history and significant events. The
old photos of the Bazaar were reproduced from published
works and from those shared by bazaar residents which the
sources is indicated.

The publication of this book brings about three important
connotations. (1) Itis the first monograph focusing both on
the social history and oral history of Old Bazaar. (2 This
book combines information oblained from both Chinese
and English literature, and importantly, materials from the
Chinese associations which are largely missing in official

records and icatic The YW from e Chingse
communily and Chinese asseciations enabled a more comprehensive perspective
on the Od Bazaar. (3) Although this book is writfen based on academic work, i is
presented [ an easy-to-understand and relaxing manner for the reading pleasure of
the local resident and tourist alfke.

Under the daunting threat of coronavirus pandemic and other related factors, the
process of wriling and interviewing were met with many unprecedented challenges.
Time was also a major concem as there were a series of lockdowns, As such there
may be content that is missing and corrections that stll need to be made. The
publication of this book is just a beginning, not an end and readers are welcome 1o
share their opinions, The interviews and work on Dkd Bazaar will continue and
progressively be made available through the official website of Kuching Old Bazaar
(kcholdbazaar.com).

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Kuching Old
Market Community Association for their trust and the opportunity to publish this
book. | would also like to thanks Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture Sarawak for
their support, Dr. Elena Chai and her team for their help; The Chairman of Sarawak
Heritage Society Mr. James Yong for his help; all the respondents who have shared
their exciting life storles, important information, and precious old photos. | am
especially grateful to my ieam members who have contributed their time and effort in
wiriting, translating, illustrating, photographing, design and layout of the book,
especially the other twio authors Helen and Yit Ping. Through this collective effort and
dedication, we have completed the publication task within a short timeframe.

| believe our effort and dedication come from our shared passion; WE LOVE
KUCHING.
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